The effects of illicit drugs on the HIV infected brain

Iain Crawford Anthony¹, Juan-Carlos Arango², Ben Stephens¹, Peter Simmonds³, Jeanne Elisabeth Bell¹

¹Division of Pathology (Neuropathology), University of Edinburgh, Alexander Donald Building, Western General Hospital, Edinburgh, EH4 2XU, UK, ²Forensic Medicine Unit, University of Edinburgh, Ist Floor, Wilkie Building, Teviot Place, Edinburgh, EH8 9AG, UK, ³Virus Evolution Group, Centre for Infectious Diseases, University of Edinburgh, Summerhall, Edinburgh, EH9 1QH

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. The HIV infected brain
 - 3.1. In the absence of therapy
 - 3.2. Changes resulting from therapy
- 4. Effects of Drugs of Abuse
 - 4.1. In the absence of HIV
 - 4.2. Interacting with HIV
- 5. Laboratory Studies
- 6. Conclusions and predictions for the future
- 7. Acknowledgements
- 8. References

1. ABSTRACT

accumulating from observations, neuroimaging and neuropathological studies suggests that illicit drug abuse accentuates the adverse effects of HIV on the central nervous system (CNS). Experimental investigation in cell culture models supports this conclusion. Injecting drug abuse is also a risk factor for the acquisition of HIV infection, the incidence of which continues to rise in intravenous drug users (IVDU) even in countries with access to effective therapy. In order to understand the interactions of drug abuse and HIV infection, it is necessary to examine the effects of each insult in isolation before looking for their combined effects. This review traces progress in understanding the pathogenesis of HIV related CNS disorders before the introduction of effective therapy and compares the state of our knowledge now that effective therapy has significantly modified disease progression. The additional impact of intravenous drug abuse on HIV-associated brain disease, then and now, is also reviewed. Predictions for the future are discussed, based on what is known at present and on recently emerging data.

2. INTRODUCTION

Knowledge regarding the HIV infected brain has progressed considerably since the first years of the AIDS epidemic. HIV is thought to enter the central nervous system (CNS) compartment at or soon after the time of initial HIV infection but whether this happens in all individuals is not known (1, 2). In untreated or partially treated HIV infection, involvement of the brain is revealed symptomatically as cognitive impairment or frank dementia in a significant proportion of individuals with AIDS (3). These individuals frequently show evidence of HIV encephalitis (HIVE) and are found at autopsy to have a high brain viral burden (4). In contrast, infected individuals who have died prior to the onset of AIDS do not display HIVE and their brains show only low or undetectable levels of proviral DNA (5). Whether the virus has been successfully eliminated from the CNS in this latter group, or never entered the brain compartment in the first place, is not known. At the early stages of infection a CD8 lymphocyte response is seen in the brain (6, 7) but later in HIV/AIDS declining numbers of circulating CD8 and CD4 lymphocytes may be a factor in less effective control of



Figure 1. Tracings of Golgi preparations of basal ganglia neurons from the caudate nucleus of a drug user with HIV encephalitis (1A) compared with similar neurons in an agematched control subject (1B). A silver nitrate Golgi technique was applied to 5mm³ blocks of brain tissue fixed in gluteraldehyde. Vibratome sections were prepared at $100\mu m$, dehydrated, embedded in resin and mounted on slides. The dentritic arbour was traced only for neurons whose cells bodies were located in the middle of the section. Lettering on the dendrites identifies (N) processes traceable right to the end and (H) and (L) processes heading towards the top and bottom of the section. Analysis of 25 dentrites in each of 6 neurons revealed a 38% reduction in the overall length of the dentrites in the HIV subject.

brain infection. There is evidence that once inside the brain compartment, viral populations evolve and become neuroadapted, subsequently interacting with later entrants so that mosaic subspecies emerge in the CNS (8, 9).

The natural history of HIV/AIDS has been significantly modified by the use of highly effective antiretroviral therapy (HAART) that became widespread in 1996. The previous distinctions between the presymptomatic and symptomatic phases of the disease are no longer useful in assessing the progress of the illness and the incidence of severe clinical manifestations of HIV brain infection has fallen. A new definition of the HIV infected brain is required in the present context as compliance with therapy results in sufficient immune competence to withstand the terminal complications of the disease. It is unclear whether HAART protects the brain by restraining progress of the initial infection, or whether, by controlling replication in the periphery and keeping circulating virus at a minimum, it reduces the chance of later viral entrants contributing to re-infection. Most likely HAART acts in both ways.

Person to person spread of HIV occurs through sexual intercourse and exposure to infected blood. Intravenous drug abuse is a major risk factor for acquiring HIV infection since infection may be spread through the sharing of contaminated needles (10). This scenario forms the backdrop for HIV/AIDS in a significant and growing proportion of the infected population worldwide. Illicit drug taking produces both pleasurable and damaging effects on the CNS (11). Evidence is accumulating that drugs of abuse may interact with HIV in a way that promotes or augments the effects of the

virus in the brain (12-14). In order to understand this interaction more fully it is necessary to consider separately the damaging effects of each insult in the brain. In addition other factors may further complicate the pathogenesis of HIV related brain damage. These include co-infection with hepatitis C which has come to be viewed recently as potentially neurotropic (15-17). One current and growing concern is that chronic HIV infection, and its associated upregulated neuroinflammatory mechanisms, may predispose to accelerated neuroaging in treated subjects who survive long term (18). There is growing interest in the possible parallels between the effects of chronic HIV infection of the CNS and those of neurodegenerative brain disorders.

3. THE HIV INFECTED BRAIN

3.1. In the absence of therapy

Clinical observation and neuropathological studies of individuals with AIDS suggested quite early in the epidemic that the CNS was a direct target of the virus. The recognition of cognitive disorders and motor symptoms in around 40% of AIDS patients led to the discovery of giant cells in the brain of many affected individuals (4, 19). The appearance of these cells, together with the demonstration of HIV proteins within microglia, gave rise to the new entity of HIV encephalitis (HIVE) as described in a number of US and European centres. Consensus on the definition of HIVE was achieved in 1991 (20), leading to clearer separation of the neuropathological findings directly attributable to HIV from the confounding effects of CNS opportunistic infections. HIVE is accompanied by a variable degree of CNS parenchymal inflammation and damage (21). In addition to giant cells and infected microglial cells, generalised microglial activation and focal microglial nodules may be present. Brain atrophy is usually manifested by ventricular dilatation. This is likely due to neuronal loss and damage (22-24) and a number of studies have documented neuronal and glial apoptosis in HIVE (25, 26). Some neuronal populations may be more vulnerable to HIV than others and selective loss of parvalbumin, calbindin and somatostatin positive neurons has been described in separate studies (27-30). At a more subtle level there is evidence of dendritic (24), synaptic (23) and axonal (31) injury, all of which may contribute significantly to the CNS symptomatology (Figure 1). White matter pallor and frank demyelination may result from primary HIV-related damage to oligodendrocytes and myelin (32), or may be secondary to axonal damage. Astrocytic hyperplasia is a striking feature also present in many cases of HIVE (21).

With growing knowledge of HIV in the systemic compartment, it became clear that cells that support productive HIV infection are characterised by the possession of surface CD4 and chemokine receptors, usually CCR5 and CXCR4. These characteristics explain the vulnerability of microglia for direct HIV infection since these are the only brain cells to carry both types of receptor (33). CD4 receptors serve as sites of attachment for HIV to host cells and one or other chemokine receptor facilitates viral entry through the host cell membrane. In addition to microglia, astrocytes may also be infected *in vivo*, albeit in a restricted form (34). These cells are quite readily infectable *in vitro* and sometimes display immunopositivity for HIV Nef *in vivo*. The mechanism of

astrocytic infection remains uncertain since these cells are CD4 negative although in common with all other cells of the CNS they do possess chemokine receptors. Occasional reports of oligodendrocytic, endothelial and neuronal infection have been published over the years. More recently, the use of *in situ* PCR and laser cell microdissection techniques have led to claims for infection of neurons but there is no evidence that these cells are productively infected (35, 36). Overall, productive CNS HIV infection is confined to microglia and infiltrating macrophages in the brain.

HIV is an RNA virus belonging to the Lentivirus genus in the family Retroviridae, viruses characterised by a replication cycle in which viral RNA is reverse transcribed into a DNA proviral form that is integrated into the host cell genome. Both integrated and unintegrated forms of viral DNA as well as viral RNA have been found within brain tissue samples from subjects with AIDS, particularly those with HIV-associated dementia (HAD) (37). HIV is thought to enter brain parenchyma at, or shortly after, the primary infection. Entry is most likely to occur across the blood brain barrier (BBB), possibly as free virus, or by carriage in the nucleated blood cells which traffic normally in low numbers into the brain compartment. The choroid plexus and cerebrospinal fluid also represent a possible source of brain infection although viral populations found in the brain and CSF compartments are frequently genetically distinct. Breakdown of the BBB (38) may facilitate viral entry to the brain. Perivascular microglia/macrophages, as a result of their proximity to blood vessels, are the first brain cells to be exposed to incoming virus. They represent a cellular pathway through which the long lived parenchymal microglia may become infected. Both cell types are likely to be a repository for HIV sequestered in the brain from the early stages of infection (39). The turnover of infected cells within the brain is poorly understood. While it seems that viral variants within the brain undergo a process of neuroadaptation in terms of optimising their ability to infect cells expressing low levels of CD4 receptors (9), it is unclear where and how this adaptation takes place. The CNS viral load remains low to undetectable throughout the presymptomatic stages of HIV/AIDS and is probably held in check partly by the influx of CD8 positive lymphocytes (40). Thus it is unusual for productive viral infection to occur in the brain before the onset of significant systemic immunosuppression. Whether the virus is ever eliminated from brain tissue or whether indeed it enters this compartment in every case, is not known. However, with the onset of AIDS, viral subspecies detected in the brain are invariably found to have diverged genotypically in the env gene from those present in lymphoid tissue in the same individual, providing evidence for their adaption for replication in different cell types in the CNS (8, 41).

The clinical effects of HIV infection of the brain and of related brain damage include neurological, psychological and psychiatric abnormalities, the most significant of which is HAD (42). The exact substrate for HAD is not entirely understood and while there is undoubtedly a general association with productive HIV infection (37) the correlation is not exact. Early studies seeking to establishing the mechanisms of brain damage demonstrated the neurotoxic effects of viral proteins on brain cells *in vitro* (43). However

no simple relationship exists between the presence of HIV in the brain and the degree of associated brain damage and a range of pathogenetic mechanisms has been invoked, similar to those which have been implicated in other neurodegenerative diseases. The agents under suspicion include excitotoxins, free radicals, nitric oxide, cytokines and chemokines. Reviews devoted to the pathogenesis of HAD continue to explore these issues (44-47). Surprisingly the amount of neuronal loss and damage within the brain does not correlate precisely with the degree of cognitive impairment (22) and a number of studies have suggested that the closest correlate for dementia is the degree to which the brain microglia and macrophages are activated. This proposal was first put forward unambiguously by Glass et al (48) and the finding has been replicated elsewere. Activated microglia and macrophages are known to secrete a wide variety of the neurotoxic agents referred to earlier, including pro-inflammatory cytokines (44).

Until 1996, the effects of HIV in the brain were self-limiting because of the inevitably fatal outcome resulting from severe immunosuppression. Early drug treatment with Zidovudine and Didanosine did little to affect this situation although some slight beneficial effects were reported with respect to dementia (49). That position has changed completely with the advent of therapeutic regimes (HAART) which are capable of sustaining or partially restoring the immune function of HIV infected individuals, thereby converting HIV infection to a much more chronic disease.

3.2. Changes resulting from effective therapy

The outlook for HIV infected individuals improved dramatically when it was found that viral production could be efficiently suppressed, and immune decline slowed or halted, by using two or three classes of antiretroviral drugs together, a combination known as HAART. While HAART is not able to completely eliminate HIV from the body because of viral persistence in sanctuary sites including lymphoid tissue, the maintenance of at least partial immune competence protects against the emergence of previously fatal opportunistic infections. The incidence of HAD and of HIVE has declined markedly (50). However as the total number of infected individuals rises, the overall prevalence of these conditions is increasing. Careful examination of treated individuals who undergo neurocognitive testing suggests that minor cognitive disorder is increasing in prevalence (51-53). It also appears that the characteristics of HAD are changing and that the predominantly subcortical pattern which was characteristic of HAD in former times is shifting to a pattern of cognitive decline with more cortical deficit (42, 54). The question of whether the brain may represent a sanctuary site for HIV in HAART treated individuals is still under investigation (52). Although the component drugs used in HAART, particularly protease inhibitors, do not transfer efficiently across an intact BBB, it is likely that breakdown of the barrier occurs periodically in HIV/AIDS (55). Whether this facilitates penetration of therapeutic drugs into the brain in vivo is not known.

The prospect of prolonged survival brings with it the likelihood that a significant proportion of older people will be living with HIV infection and will present with HIV

Table 1. Major drugs of addiction and their modes of action in the brain¹

Drug (s)	Mode of Action	Effects		
Opiates eg heroin (diamorphine) ² , methadone ²	Act mainly at μ as well as other opiate receptors, mimicking	CNS depressants		
	endogenous opiates and activating adenylate cyclase intracellular			
	signalling.			
Cocaine	Acts at dopamine receptors to prevent reuptake of dopamine. Also	CNS stimulant.		
	prevents reuptake of noradrenaline and serotonin.	Leads to dopamine surges.		
Amphetamines ³ e.g	Act at receptors for dopamine, noradrenaline and adrenaline or	CNS stimulants.		
.methylenedioxymethamphetamine MDMA	facilitates these endogenous transmitters	Ecstasy is a hallucinogen		
(Ecstasy)				
Cannabis ⁴	Acts on G protein coupled cannabinoid receptors inhibiting	biting CNS depressant.		
	adenylate cyclase.			
Benzodiazapines eg diazepam (Valium) ⁴	Bind to GABA receptors, increasing GABA binding, can also	CNS depressants.		
	decrease serotonergic activity	Sedative, anxiolytic and hypnotic		
		effects reducing arousal.		
Barbiturates	Bind to GABA receptors.	CNS depressants.		
Alcohol ⁴	Enhances GABA mediated inhibitory receptors but also enhances	Complex; CNS stimulant or CNS		
	serotonin binding at 5HT receptors.	depressant.		
Others eg solvents	Similar to alcohol.	CNS stimulants or depressants		
		Cardiac arythmias		

Mode of action of the major classes of illicit drugs is reviewed in Drummer OH and Odell M 2001; 2 main drugs of choice in the Edinburgh cohort. 3amphetamines are used in addition to opiates in 30% if the Edinburgh cohort, 4all drug abusers in Edinburgh are exposed to alcohol (spirits), benzodiazepines and cannabis from time to time as well as nicotine through smoking cigarettes. Illicit drug taking in humans is virtually always a problem of polydrug abuse although many cohorts have a predominant drug of choice. While this complicates the study of the effects of drug abuse, observations in human addicts are necessary to understanding the problem and are well complemented by laboratory studies in cell culture and animal models.

related disease. Comparisons of older and younger HIV infected subjects who have been treated with HAART shows that HAD is more common in the older group and that this finding is not related to the duration of infection (18). These findings suggest that the older brain may be more vulnerable to HIV related damage. Elevated levels of hyperphosphorylated Tau protein have been found in the CSF of HIV infected subjects, with a corresponding fall in beta amyloid levels, a pattern reminiscent of the results in Alzheimer's disease (56).

The pattern of neuropathology in HAART treated individuals is also changing compared with that observed in previous times. It seems clear that the prevalence of opportunistic infections has declined markedly with the progressive exception of leucoencephalopathy (PML) (50, 57, 58). CNS lymphoma continues to pose problems and it is unclear whether the incidence is actually rising or whether the numbers of cases are simply rising in an enlarging cohort of HIV infected individuals in the late stages of infection. The evidence with respect to HIVE is variable with some studies claiming a lower incidence and some a maintained level of productive infection, compared with the pre-HAART era (59, 60). Recent studies have also highlighted that the viral load in HAART treated brains is generally low but not always so despite compliance with HAART, confirming the ability for the virus to persist in sanctuary sites such as the CNS (61).

One pathological phenomenon that has emerged in the wake of the HAART epidemic is the so-called immune reconstitution syndrome (IRIS). In these cases, extensive demyelination and white matter damage is found in HIV infected individuals following the institution of HAART (62, 63). The myelin damage is accompanied by marked lymphocytic infiltrate of brain parenchyma suggesting that the pathogenesis of the white matter damage may be immunologic following a HAART-induced upturn in the numbers of circulating CD4 and CD8 lymphocytes and sudden massive influx of these cells into the brain. No information is available with regard to the viral load in brain tissue in these cases. Although the explanation is plausible, it should be noted that

lymphocytic infiltrate of the brain is also prominent in some presymptomatic individuals without obvious myelin damage.

One current focus of interest is the neuropathological status of subjects who are growing older with HIV infection. Two separate questions arise in this context. The first concerns whether HIV accelerates the ageing process such that premature neurodegeneration occurs in young individuals who would not otherwise display such changes. The second question is whether HIV infection and its attendant therapy facilitate the development of other recognised neurodegenerative conditions such as Alzheimer's disease. Evidence regarding hyperphosphorylated Tau and beta amyloid levels in the CSF of infected individuals (56) together with the cognitive impairment noted clinically (51) suggest the presence of an underlying pathological process in the brain. Apart from the dramatic cases of immune-mediated demyelination described above, brains from HAART-compliant subjects which are deemed normal or near normal on routine examination may on further investigation show a significant degree of neuroinflammation in the form of microglial activation This is accompanied by a greater degree of hyperphosphorylated Tau deposition within neurites and neuronal cell bodies compared with the amount present in age-matched controls (65). Other reports have suggested that Beta amyloid is deposited to an excess degree in HIV infected individuals (66). Ubiquitin immunopositivity is also enhanced in the white matter of HIV infected individuals (67). All these factors suggest that for their age HIV positive brains have a higher prevalence of neurodegenerative changes, but it is currently unclear whether this signals the onset of premature and ongoing neurodegeneration. These subtle forms of brain injury may be clinically silent in young people with sufficient brain reserve to sustain apparently normal function.

4. EFFECTS OF DRUG ABUSE

4.1. In the absence of HIV

Drugs that are commonly misused include the opiates, cocaine, amphetamines, benzodiazepines and cannabis (68, 69). The major classes of drugs which lead to dependence or addiction are listed in Table 1 together

Table 2. Selected study groups of subjects with various combinations of HIV infection and illicit drug abuse

- HIV negative drug users (DU+HIV-)
- Presymptomatic HIV positive drug users (**DU+HIV+**)
- Drug users progressing to AIDS without HIV encephalitis (HIVE) or central nervous system (CNS) opportunistic infections (DU+AIDS+HIVE-)
- Non drug users in AIDS with no evidence of CNS pathology (DU-AIDS+HIVE-)
- Drug users in AIDS with evidence of HIVE and no CNS opportunistic infections (DU+AIDS+HIVE+)
- Non-drug users in AIDS with HIVE and no CNS opportunistic infections (DU-AIDS+HIVE+)
- HAART treated HIV positive drug users (DU+ HIV+HAART+)
- Controls (DU-HIV-)

with their modes of action in the CNS. Drugs of addiction commonly act at receptors for neurotransmitters thereby mimicking their effects, or at G protein coupled receptors, including opiate receptors, which activate second messenger systems (69, 70). The site of action of these drugs is maximal where such receptors are enriched. For instance opiates, cocaine and amphetamines are active in the mesolimbic dopaminergic pathways between the ventral tegmental area of the brain stem and the ventral striatum. The nucleus accumbens of the ventral striatum is sometimes viewed as the reward centre of the brain and has connections with both the frontal cortex and the limbic Other brain stem nuclei, including the noradrenergic locus coeruleus and the serotonergic dorsal raphe nucleus, also form direct targets for illicit drugs. These drugs are capable not only of causing surges of neurotransmitters, particularly dopamine (71), but are also potentially neurotoxic in these pathways. Acute psychoses and episodes of aggression and violent behaviour are all linked to changes in neurotransmitter level in the brain, reviewed in (70). Although opiates are not usually linked to psychotic behaviour, heroin withdrawal is known to induce such episodes which are also potentiated by a chaotic lifestyle and erratic access to supplies of illicit drugs. In any one individual, the pattern of drug abuse is usually complex and polydrug use is the norm together with excess alcohol intake and smoking. Additionally, such individuals may have an impoverished lifestyle and poor nutrition. Subjects who have a serious drug habit are at risk of sudden death, not just from accidental or intentional drug overdose but also because of a heightened risk of cerebrovascular accidents (72-74). This may be the result of atherogenic effects of some illicit drugs. Other side effects include a general suppression of immune function and increased susceptibility to infection (75), attributed to central effects in the brain, notably in the periaqueductal grey matter (76).

On superficial examination, the brains of IVDUs may show little in the way of pathology. The brain is often swollen when compared with those of non-drug using age matched individuals who die suddenly. Cerebral oedema is present in these cases. The most consistent visible change is focal thickening and sclerosis of the small vessels of the white matter which are frequently associated with a small number of perivascular pigmented macrophages (77, 78). Some of these abnormal small vessels show microvascular

proliferation and a decrease in collagen content of the vascular basal lamina has been reported (79). It is generally assumed that these changes represent damage to the blood brain barrier (5, 80). Disturbances in the circulation to the brain may well be intermittent in the context of a drug habit and are likely to lead to neuronal hypoxic damage. Opiate misuse also leads to respiratory depression and episodes of hypoxia (Table 2). Such a mechanism may be the basis for the finding of increased levels of Beta amyloid precursor protein expression in the white matter in drug abuse (81, 82). Hypoxic/ischaemic changes may be confined to acute terminal hypoxia affecting vulnerable neuronal subsets particularly in the hippocampus, or may include evidence of preceding injury including infarcts and neuronal loss. A recent careful study of 50 drug abusers compared with 30 controls revealed widespread cortical neuronal loss (78). This is borne out by the results of studies using the TUNEL (TdT-mediateddUTP nick end labelling) technique which has shown that TUNEL positive neurons are more frequent in the cortex of drug abusers than they are in controls (83). Whether this neuronal DNA damage and neuronal loss is a direct result of drug abuse or mediated indirectly through drug induced hypoxia is not yet clear. Another possible causative factor may be the microglial upregulation consistently present in the brains of drug abusers (6, 7, 84). Recent studies have shown upregulation of hyperphosphorylated expression in neuronal cell bodies and neurites in young drug abusers (81). Damage to dopaminergic systems has been reported in drug abuse and it is generally supposed that dopaminergic neurons are a key target for illicit drugs, as noted above, both in terms of producing the desired effect and of being vulnerable to drug associated damage and loss (85). Drug abuse can also lead to neurocognitive deficits (86, 87). Documented atrophy of the CNS, particularly in the temporal lobe, may underlie these neurocognitive problems (88)

Effects of illicit drugs on astrocytes have not attracted much attention. Our own previous investigations suggested that there was no conspicuous activation of astrocytes in drug abusers (7) and Buttner and Weis (78) have reported an actual fall in the number of GFAP positive astrocytes associated with drug abuse. In this context, it is pertinent to separate the direct effects of drugs on the brain from those of co-morbid factors such as hepatitis B and C infection. Disorders of liver function, particularly those present in cirrhosis caused by the hepatitis viruses, can lead to the onset of hepatic encephalopathy (89). pathological substrate of this condition is a change in astrocytic morphology, known as Alzheimer type II astrocytosis, which is most prominent in the basal ganglia and the brain stem nuclei. Alzheimer type II astrocytes are not strongly positive for the glial marker, glial fibrillary acidic protein, but display enlargement and clearing of the nuclear morphology with distortion of the nuclear outline. The changes seen in astrocytes attributable to hepatic encephalopathy may be associated with manganese deposition in the brain (89). The resulting disturbance of glutamate homeostasis and other metabolic changes including the accumulation of ammonia results in cognitive and motor dysfunction. This is a not insignificant problem

in HIV infected drug users since it is estimated that up to 90% of HIV positive IVDUs are hepatitis C virus (HCV) positive (90). HIV positivity appears to accelerate HCVrelated liver damage and the resulting complications for the CNS (15, 91). Since some of the drugs used in HAART have the potential to be hepatotoxic, their use in HCV positive patients with liver damage may be fraught with difficulty. Recently, interest has focussed on a possible direct role for HCV in neuroinvasion and neurotoxicity (16, 92). HCVinfected individuals may display neuropsychological dysfunction which does not link to the severity of the liver disease nor to hepatic encephalopathy or drug abuse. HCV RNA has been detected in post mortem brain tissue and there is speculation that this virus may be capable of infecting both peripheral monocytes and microglial cells (15, 16, 93) implying that HCV and HIV may potentially co-infect the same cells with possible direct interaction between these two pathogens. Drugs of abuse may also disturb the immune balance in the brain as well as having an effect on systemic immune function (94). Through a mechanism of microglial activation, opiates may upregulate cytokines, chemokines, free radicals and nitric oxide production by these cells and thereby inflict damage on nerve cells. Opiates are known to have general effects on the immune system and in particular increase chemokine receptors, thereby possibly predisposing to HIV infection of the CNS (95). The use of opiates may also disrupt the endogenous opioid system (96). Recreational drug use results in changes in cytotoxic lymphocyte counts and upsets the balance between neuroprotective and proinflammatory cytokine levels (97, 98). Opiates lead to a rise in CD4 lymphocytes with a consequent fall in the CD4/CD8 ratio, also affecting the function of natural killer cells (99). The resulting altered immune response may upset the normal CD8 mediated immune surveillance of the brain compartment (100). It has been shown that acute opiate withdrawal results in immunosuppression (101) a finding which has implications for drug users with interrupted access to illicit drug supplies

Thus at a more subtle level, drugs of abuse can induce changes in the brain which resemble those seen more dramatically as a result of HIV infection. The question has arisen as to whether these effects could be additive or synergistic to those induced by HIV, thereby leading to a greater degree of clinical deterioration, with possible accelerated progress and a greater degree of underlying neuropathological abnormality.

4.2. Interacting with HIV

HIV infection transmitted in the context of intravenous drug abuse continues to be a major problem. Both blood borne and heterosexual transmission can occur from infected drug users (30, 102, 103). Participation by drug users in risk taking behaviour is likely to be affected adversely by the cognitive effects of drug misuse (86). On the clinical front, evidence is conflicting as to whether, that in the absence of therapy, HIV positive drug users progress faster than other groups (104). The problem is confounded in that drug using HIV positive cohorts are often younger than those infected in other risk groups and it is known that older subjects with HIV/AIDS progress faster than younger infected individuals. However HIV positive drug users do

appear to be are more prone than non-drug users to develop cognitive impairment (13, 105-108).

Investigation of the neuropathological status of HIV infected drug users compared with non-drug users also suggests a higher prevalence of HIV related pathology in the brain (109, 110). Not all comparative studies have observed these differences (111). These different results may be attributable to particular drug habits. European drug users tend to use heroin and opiates as the drug of choice while cocaine and amphetamines, including methamphetamine, are more widespread in the US. A number of studies have suggested that microglial activation is more pronounced in drug users with HIVE than in non-drug users with HIVE (30, 112).

In order to assess pathologically the degree of drug associated damage in the context of HIV infection it is essential to study a number of different groups of subjects as shown in Table 2. Tables 3 and 4 draw together and summarise the results of a number of our studies relating to these groups of individuals. Microglial marker proteins are confirmed to be upregulated in AIDS cases particularly in those with HIVE. The macrophage marker CD14 is upregulated in some but not all cases of HIVE. CD16 and MHCII expression are more consistently upregulated in HIVE and this effect is accentuated by drug abuse. In contrast, drug abuse appears to have no effect on the HIV related influx of CD8 lymphocytes or on the degree of astrocytosis but does increase the level of damage both to the blood brain barrier and to DNA in resident brain cells. The best correlate for cognitive impairment in these subjects proved to be accelerating microglial activation and this is exacerbated by drug abuse. Studies of the BBB in HAART treated individuals are currently underway. It is known that drugs of abuse damage the blood brain barrier in the context of HIV infection (100, 113, 114).

Our studies have shown for the first time that B lymphocytes are present in small numbers in the normal adult human brain and that they join the influx of CD8 lymphocytes in the brains of presymptomatic individuals. However the numbers of B lymphocytes in the brain are very scanty in the later stages of HIV CNS disease, suggesting that they play no further role in controlling the infection although their presence may be significant for development of primary CNS lymphoma in the late stages of AIDS. HIV causes direct neuronal damage through a variety of mechanisms including the release of neurotoxic proteins such as Tat (13, 115, 116). Recent in vitro studies have suggested that when neuronal cultures are exposed to Tat and methamphetamine together, they show a greater degree of damage than that seen in cells exposed to one or other insult in isolation. Mitochondrial damage was observed in the cultured neurons and there was concomitant decrease in calbindin and microtubule associated protein (MAP2) (117).

It is unlikely that HIV proteins and illicit drugs exert precisely the same effects on cells of the brain and it is not known whether microglia which are activated in the context of illicit drug use release the same profile of proinflammatory cytokines as that produced during HIV-

Table 3. Neuroinflammate	ory responses compared in	8 groups of subjects – com	posite of data in Refs X, Y and Z

Reactive Cell	Marker	Results compared to control subjects						
Туре		DU+ HIV-	DU+ HIV+ (presymptomatic)	DU+ AIDS+ HIVE-	DU- AIDS+ HIVE-	DU+ AIDS+ HIVE+	DU- AIDS+ HIVE+	DU+ HIV+ HAART+
Microglial	CD14	_	-	-	_	$\uparrow \uparrow$	$\uparrow \uparrow$	_
	CD16	1	↑	↑	↑	$\uparrow \uparrow \uparrow$	$\uparrow \uparrow$	1
	CD45	1	↑	$\uparrow \uparrow$	↑	$\uparrow \uparrow$	↑	1
	CD68	_	↑	↑	$\uparrow \uparrow$	$\uparrow \uparrow \uparrow$	$\uparrow \uparrow$	$\uparrow \uparrow$
	MHC II	_	↑	$\uparrow\uparrow\uparrow$	$\uparrow \uparrow$	$\uparrow \uparrow \uparrow$	$\uparrow \uparrow$	$\uparrow \uparrow$
Lymphocytes	CD3 (T)	_	$\uparrow \uparrow$	_	_	$\uparrow \uparrow$	$\uparrow \uparrow$	-
	CD8 (T)	_	$\uparrow \uparrow$	_	_	$\uparrow \uparrow$	$\uparrow \uparrow$	_
	CD20 (B)	_	$\uparrow \uparrow$	\downarrow	$\downarrow\downarrow$	\downarrow	\downarrow	_
	CD45 (B+T)	-	$\uparrow \uparrow$	↓	$\downarrow\downarrow$	↓	↓	_
	CD79 alpha (B)	-	$\uparrow\uparrow$	↓	↓ ↓	↓	1	_
Astrocytes	GFAP	_	1	1	1	$\uparrow \uparrow$	$\uparrow \uparrow$	1

↑ increase, ↓ decrease, − no change, T - T lymphocyte, B - B lymphocyte, HIVE - HIV encephalitis, DU - drug user

associated activation. The interactions between HIV, illicit drugs and the cells of the brain are complex, with some neuroprotective mechanisms brought into play (94, 118). Some drugs including benzodiazepines bind to microglia directly and in so doing may inhibit TNF alpha production and down regulate HIV replication. A further complicating factor is the effect of therapeutic drugs on the brain. In essence, the synergy between drugs of abuse and HIV in causing CNS damage arises from their similar targets. Microglial activation is caused not only by HIV (119-121) but also by drug abuse (7, 84). The glial changes induced by both agents are reviewed by Hauser *et al* (122). Both agents can lead to neuronal loss and resulting brain atrophy (22, 123).

Since HAART was introduced the beneficial effects have been observed in all risk groups despite the greater difficulties in achieving compliance in drug users and possible interaction between methadone in particular and therapeutic drugs (104). Dougherty *et al* (124) showed that IVDUs with HIV associated dementia did less well on HAART than non-drug users.

5. LABORATORY STUDIES

Rogers *et al* have reviewed the cell culture model systems in which the effects of drugs of abuse on HIV replication and infectivity have been investigated (125). Here the finding that drugs of abuse upregulate chemokine expression on a variety of cell types has been confirmed. Kanmogne *et al* have conducted blood brain barrier studies *in vitro* and investigated the effects of drugs in this context (113). Turchan-Cholewo *et al* showed that Apolipoprotein E (ApoE) 4 neurons were more vulnerable than ApoE 3 neurons to HIV associated damage indicating the effects of host genotype (126). Currently there is considerable interest in the effects of drugs of abuse and of HIV on neural progenitor cells in culture (127, 128)

Although no animal model exists for HIV infection *per se*, SCID mice have been used effectively when "humanised" (129). The SCID model has been used to study the blood brain barrier (130) as well as for testing the efficacy of antiretroviral drugs (131). Neurodegeneration has been shown to follow the intracerebral injection of infected astrocytes (132).

Neuronal plasticity is reduced in this model in the context of HIV infected macrophages (133).

Larger laboratory animals are vulnerable to specific retroviruses including feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV) and the sooty mangabey simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV_{SMM}) in macaques. The FIV model has been used to review compartmentalisation of virus between the CNS and systemic systems as well as the distribution of infection between the CNS and the periphery via the cerebrospinal fluid pathways (134, 135). Other studies have used cats infected with FIV to investigate the effects of the virus in the brain (136, 137). Phillips *et al* have shown behavioural changes and an increase in reverse transcriptase activity with methamphetamine in drug treated animals (138).

It is perhaps the SIV model that most closely resembles the human disease of HIV/AIDS. The clinical course of presymptomatic and symptomatic infection of SIV_{SMM} in macaques represents an accelerated form of HIV/AIDS in humans and the model has been used in a variety of ways to study the evolving neuropathology as well as brain viral load (139). Infection of the microglial population including perivascular and parenchymal microglia/macrophages, was described by Williams et al (140) and axonal injury was detected in SIV_{SMM} infected macaques by the presence of βamyloid precursor protein positivity (141). Infection of astrocytes by SIV_{SMM} has been demonstrated (142). Czub et al discovered that increased availability of dopamine following the administration of dopaminergic drugs potentiated SIV_{SMM} dementia (143, 144), the early control of which was modulated by CD8 lymphocytes (145). Donahoe et al showed that opiates actually retarded AIDS progression in the SIV_{SMM} macaque model (146). In contrast cocaine and opiates have been found to potentiate the expression of HIV in systemic cells of the immune system including lymphocytes and macrophages (147).

These and other aspects of laboratory model systems are reviewed by Rogers *et al* (125).

6. CONCLUSIONS AND PREDICTIONS FOR THE FUTURE

The CNS has come to be viewed as a sanctuary site where HIV can evade the action of HAART and where

Table 4. Neuronal, glial and blood brain barrier damage compared in 8 groups of subjects

Type of damage		Results compared to control subjects							
		Marker	DU+ HIV-	DU+ HIV+ (pre- symptomatic)	DU+ AIDS+ HIVE-	DU- AIDS+ HIVE-	DU+ AIDS+ HIVE+	DU- AIDS+ HIVE+	DU+ HIV+ HAART+
Axonal		BetaAPP	1	1	↑	↑	1	↑	_
Neuronal DNA		TUNEL	-	-	1	1	$\uparrow \uparrow$	$\uparrow \uparrow$	-
Neuro-	Beta amyloid deposition	BetaA-4	-	-/ ↑	-/ ↑	-/ ↑	-/ ↑	-/ ↑	-/ ↑
degeneration	Hyper-phosphorylated Tau deposition	AT8	$\uparrow \uparrow \uparrow$	$\uparrow\uparrow$	$\uparrow \uparrow$	$\uparrow\uparrow$	$\uparrow \uparrow$	$\uparrow\uparrow$	↑ ↑↑
Glia	DNA	TUNEL	-	_	1	1	$\uparrow \uparrow$	$\uparrow \uparrow$	_
	apoptosis	BAX	\downarrow	_	$\uparrow \uparrow$	↑	$\uparrow \uparrow$	↑	$\uparrow \uparrow$
Blood Brain Barrier integrity (loss of ZO-1 tight junction immuno reactivity indicates damage)		ZO-1	1	$\downarrow\downarrow\downarrow$	$\downarrow\downarrow$	1	$\downarrow\downarrow\downarrow$	↓ ↓	NA

↑ increased, ↓ decreased, – no change, NA Not available, HIVE – HIV encephalitis, DU – drug user

the virus is controlled only indirectly. Consequently there is a risk that cessation of therapy or emerging resistance to therapy will be followed by the emergence of HIVE. It is also possible that infection might spread from the brain to the systemic compartment (148). Recent studies have shown that the brain viral load in HAART compliant patients is generally low but not so in all cases. The rigorous use of HAART has not succeeded in eliminating cognitive disturbance and this problem may be compounded in IVDUs. Reports are accumulating which suggest that even in HAART compliant subjects there is a greater burden of neurodegenerative proteins in HIV positive individuals than in age matched controls. Neuroinflammation in the form of activated microglia and macrophages is also present to a level resembling that seen in HIVE and this raises further concerns for the future. One caveat attached to autopsy studies relates to whether the findings are relevant to survivors or merely confined to those who died. However more generalised clinical and neuroimaging data are in keeping with the neuropathological findings suggesting that the latter are valid for survivors. Neuroinflammation has been implicated as a major pathogenetic factor in the onset of AIDS dementia and is common in other dementing illnesses such as Alzheimer's disease (149).

Analysis of the pathogenesis of HIV related brain disease suggests that while brain damage may be initiated by viral infection, other factors are also important. These include oxidative and nitrative stress, excitotoxicity, inflammatory chemokines and cytokines, neuronal and glial apoptosis, mitochondrial dysfunction and altered proteolosis. It is possible that these combined factors will accelerate ageing and predispose to early onset of one of the recognised neurodegenerative disorders or may result in a previously unrecognised ageing-associated cognitive disorder. Some of these have been invoked in the development of other conditions such as Alzheimer's disease, multiple sclerosis and Parkinson's disease (150-152). Neuroinflammation as a basis for dementia is an interesting concept which may well have contributed in the context of neurosyphilis, another major infective ed dementia. However the end result of these disorders is very different and comparisons with them may not shed light on the likely future state of HIV infected, HAART treated individuals as they grow older. Evidence from clinical, in vitro and neuropathological studies shows that drug abuse

causes HIV related brain damage to be worse than that seen in drug free individuals. Other confounding factors including HCV infections that may lead to hepatic encephalopathy, or directly infect the brain (15), as well as host genotypic variations, will require further study. The requirement for ongoing pathological investigation of neuroAIDS to complement clinical cohort studies remains paramount in the context of HAART therapy.

7. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Funding for these studies is provided by the UK Medical Research Council (G9708080) which supports brain banking in Edinburgh, and from US National Institutes on Drug Abuse (IRO1 DA13127-0A1 and IR01 DA13840-01). The authors would like to pay tribute to support provided by Mrs Frances Carnie and Ms Angela Penman and in particular they would like to thank the families who gave consent for these research studies to be performed. The skilled assistance of mortuary attendants in the Royal Infirmary of Edinburgh and in the Edinburgh City Mortuary is also gratefully acknowledged.

8. REFERENCES

- 1. Ho, D. D., M. G. Sarngadharan, L. Resnick, F. Dimarzoveronese, T. R. Rota and M. S. Hirsch: Primary human T-lymphotropic virus type III infection. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 103, 880-883 (1985)
- 2. Chiodi, F., B. Asjo, E. M. Fenyo, G. Norkrans, L. Hagberg and J. Albert: Isolation of human immunodeficiency virus from cerebrospinal fluid of antibody-positive virus carrier without neurological symptoms. *The Lancet*, 2, 1276-1277 (1986)
- 3. Price, R. W., B. J. Brew, J. Sidtis, M. Rosenblum, A. C. Scheck and P. Cleary: The brain in AIDS: central nervous system HIV-1 infection and AIDS dementia complex. *Science*, 239, 586-592 (1988)
- 4. Budka, H., G. Costanzi, S. Cristina, A. Lechi, C. Parravicini, R. Trabattoni and L. Vago: Brain pathology induced by infection with the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV): a histological, immunocytochemical and electron microscopical study of 100 cases. *Acta Neuropathologica*, 75, 185-198 (1987)
- 5. Bell, J. E., A. Busuttil, J. W. Ironside, S. Rebus, Y. K. Donaldson, P. Simmonds and J. F. Peutherer: HIV and the brain: investigation of viral load and neuropathological

- changes in pre-AIDS subjects. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 168, 818-824 (1993)
- 6. Gray, F., F. Scaravilli, I. P. Everall, F. Chretien, D. Boche, H. Adle-Biassette, L. Wingertsmann, M. Durigon, B. Hurtrel, F. Chiodi, J. E. Bell and P. L. Lantos: Neuropathology of early HIV-1 infection. *Brain Pathology*, 6, 1-15 (1996)
- 7. Tomlinson, G. S., P. Simmonds, A. Busuttil, A. Chiswick and J. E. Bell: Upregulation of microglia in drug users with and without pre-symptomatic HIV infection. *Neuropathology and Applied Neurobiology*, 25, 369-379 (1999)
- 8. Morris, A., M. Marsden, K. Halcrow, E. S. Hughes, R. P. Brettle, J. E. Bell and P. Simmonds: Mosaic structure of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 genome infecting lymphoid cells and the brain: evidence for frequent *in vivo* recombination events in the evolution of regional populations. *Journal of Virology*, 73, 8720-8731 (1999)
- 9. Gorry, P. R., J. Taylor, G. H. Holm, A. Mehle, T. Morgan, M. Cayabyab, M. Farzan, H. Wang, J. E. Bell, K. Kuntsman, J. P. Moore, S. M. Wolinsky and D. Gabuzda: Increased CCR5 affinity and reduced CCR5/CD4 dependence of a neurovirulent primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolate. *Journal of Virology*, 76, 6277-6292 (2002)
- 10. Robertson, J. R., P. J. M. Ronald, G. M. Raab, A. J. Ross and T. Parpia: Deaths, HIV infection, abstinence and other outcomes in a cohort of injecting drug users followed up for 10 years. *British Medical Journal*, 309, 369 (1994)
- 11. Karch, S. B.: The Pathology of Drug Abuse. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida (2002)
- 12. Friedman, H. and T. K. Eisenstein: Neurological basis of drug dependence and its effects on the immune system. *J Neuroimmunol*, 147, 106-8 (2004)
- 13. Nath, A., K. F. Hauser, V. Wojna, R. M. Booze, W. Maragos, M. Prendergast, W. A. Cass and J. T. Turchan: Molecular basis for interactions of HIV and drugs of abuse. *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome*, 31, S62-S69 (2002)
- 14. Anthony, I. C., S. N. Ramage, F. W. Carnie, P. Simmonds and J. E. Bell: Does drug abuse alter microglial phenotype and cell turnover in the context of advancing HIV infection? *Neuropath App Neurobiol*, 31, 325-338 (2005)
- 15. Forton, D. M., J. M. Allsop, J. Main, G. R. Foster, H. C. Thomas and S. D. Taylor-Robinson: Evidence for a cerebral effect of the hepatitis C virus. *Lancet*, 358, 38-39 (2001)
- 16. Laskus, T., M. Radkowski, D. M. Adair, J. Wilkinson, A. C. Scheck and J. Rakela: Emerging evidence of hepatitis C virus neuroinvasion. *AIDS*, 19 Suppl 3, S140-S144 (2005)
- 17. Kresina, T. F., J. Khalsa, H. Cesari and H. Francis: Hepatitis C virus infection and substance abuse: medical management and developing models of integrated care--an introduction. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 40 Suppl 5, S259-62 (2005)
- 18. Valcour, V., C. Shikuma, B. Shiramizu, M. Watters, P. Poff, O. Selnes, P. Holck, J. Grove and N. Sacktor: Higher frequency of dementia in older HIV-1 individuals: The Hawaii Aging with HIV-1 Cohort. *Neurology*, 63, 822-827 (2004)

- 19. Sharer, L. R., E. S. Cho and L. G. Epstein: Multinucleated giant cells and HTLV-III in AIDS encephalopathy. *Human Pathology*, 16, 760 (1985)
- 20. Budka, H., C. A. Wiley, P. Kleihues, J. Artigas, A. K. Asbury, E. S. Cho, D. R. Cornblath, M. C. Dal Canto, U. De Girolami, D. W. Dickson, L. G. Epstein, M. M. Esiri, F. Giangaspero, G. Gosztonyi, F. Gray, J. W. Griffin, D. Henin, Y. Iwasaki, R. S. Janssen, R. T. Johnson, P. L. Lantos, W. D. Lyman, J. C. McArthur, K. Nagashima, N. Peress, C. K. Petito, R. W. Price, R. H. Rhodes, M. Rosenblum, G. Said, F. Scaravilli, L. R. Sharer and H. V. Vinters: HIV-associated disease of the nervous system: review of nomenclature and proposal for neuropathology-based terminology. *Brain Pathology*, 1, 143-152 (1991)
- 21. Budka, H.: Neuropathology of human immunodeficiency virus infection. *Brain Pathology*, 1, 163-175 (1991)
- 22. Everall, I. P., P. J. Luthbert and P. L. Lantos: Neuronal loss in the frontal cortex in HIV infection. *The Lancet*, 337, 1119-1121 (1991)
- 23. Everall, I. P., R. K. Heaton, D. T. Marcotte, R. J. Ellis, J. A. McCutchan, J. H. Atkinson, I. Grant, M. Mallory and E. Masliah: Cortical synaptic density is reduced in mild to moderate HIV neurocognitive disorder. *Brain Pathology*, 9, 209-217 (1999)
- 24. Masliah, E., R. K. Heaton, D. T. Marcotte, R. J. Ellis, C. A. Wiley, M. Mallory, C. L. Achim, J. A. McCutchan, J. A. Nelson, J. H. Atkinson and I. Grant: Dendritic injury is a pathological substrate for human immunodeficiency virus-related cognitive disorders. HNRC Group. The HIV Neurobehavioral Research Center. *Annals of Neurology*, 42, 963 (1997)
- 25. An, S. F., B. Giometto, T. Scaravilli, B. Tavolato, F. Gray and F. Scaravilli: Programmed cell death in brains of HIV-1 positive AIDS and pre-AIDS patients. *Acta Neuropathologica*, 91, 169-173 (1996)
- 26. Thompson, K. A., J. C. McArthur and S. L. Wesselingh: Correlation between neurological progression and astrocyte apoptosis in HIV-associated dementia. *Annals of Neurology*, 49, 745 (2001)
- 27. Masliah, E., N. Ge, C. L. Achim, L. Hansen and C. A. Wiley: Selective neuronal vulnerability in HIV encephalitis. *Journal of Neuropathology and Experimental Neurology*, 51, 585 (1992)
- 28. Masliah, E., N. Ge, C. L. Achim and C. A. Wiley: Differential vulnerability of calbindin-immunoreactive neurons in HIV encephalitis. *Journal of Neuropathology and Experimental Neurology*, 54, 350 (1995)
- 29. Fox, L., M. Alford, C. L. Achim, M. Mallory and E. Masliah: Neurodegeneration of somatostatin-immunoreactive neurons in HIV encephalitis. *Journal of Neuropathology and Experimental Neurology*, 56, 360 (1997)
- 30. Langford, D., A. Adame, A. Grigorian, I. Grant, J. A. McCutchan, R. J. Ellis, D. T. Marcotte, E. Masliah and H. I. V. N. R. C. Group: Patterns of selective neuronal damage in methamphetamine-user AIDS patients. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol*, 34, 467-474 (2003)
- 31. Giometto, B., S. F. An, M. Groves, R. Scaravilli, J. F. Geddes, R. Miller, T. Tavolato, A. A. J. Beckett and F. Scaravilli: Accumulation of B-amyloid precursor protein in

- HIV encephalitis: relationship with neuropsychological abnormalities. *Annals of Neurology*, 42, 34-40 (1997)
- 32. Gray, F. and M. C. Lescs: HIV-related demyelinating disease. *European Journal of Medicine*, 2, 89 (1993)
- 33. Clapham, P. R. and A. McKnight: HIV-1 receptors and cell tropism. *British Medical Bulletin*, 58, 43-59 (2001)
- 34. Brack-Werner, R.: Astrocytes: HIV cellular reservoirs and important participants in neuropathogenesis. *AIDS*, 13, 1-22 (1999)
- 35. Torres-Munoz, J., P. Stockton, N. Tacoronte, B. Roberts, R. R. Maronpot and C. K. Petito: Detection of HIV-1 gene sequences in hippocampal neurons isolated from postmortem AIDS brains by laser capture microdissection. *Journal of Neuropathology and Experimental Neurology*, 60, 885-892 (2001)
- 36. Trillo-Pazos, G., A. Diamanturos, L. Rislove, T. Menza, W. Chao, P. Belem, S. Sadiq, S. Morgello, L. R. Sharer and D. J. Volsky: Detection of HIV-1 DNA in microglia/macrophages, astrocytes and neurons isolated from brain tissue with HIV-1 encephalitis by laser capture microdissection. *Brain Pathology*, 13, 144-154 (2003)
- 37. McArthur, J. C., D. R. McClernon, M. F. Cronin, T. E. Nance-Sproson, A. J. Saah, M. St Clair and E. R. Lanier: Relationship between human immunodeficiency virus-associated dementia and viral load in cerebrospinal fluid and brain. *Annals of Neurology*, 42, 689-698 (1997)
- 38. Dallasta, L. M., L. A. Pisarov, J. E. Esplen, J. V. Werley, A. V. Moses, J. A. Nelson and C. L. Achim: Blood-brain barrier tight junction disruption in human immunodeficiency virus-1 encephalitis. *American Journal of Pathology*, 155, 1915-1927 (1999)
- 39. Lambotte, O., K. Deiva and M. Tardieu: HIV-1 persistence, viral reservoir, and the central nervous system in the HAART era. *Brain Pathology*, 13, 95-103 (2003)
- 40. McCrossan, M., M. Marsden, F. W. Carnie, S. Minnis, B. Hansoti, I. C. Anthony, R. P. Brettle, J. E. Bell and P. Simmonds: An immune control model for viral replication in the CNS during presymptomatic HIV infection. *Brain*, 129, 503-16 (2006)
- 41. Hughes, E. S., J. E. Bell and P. Simmonds: Investigation of the dynamics of the spread of human immunodeficiency virus to brain and other tissues by evolutionary analysis of sequences from the p17gag and env genes. *Journal of Virology*, 71, 1272-1280 (1997)
- 42. McArthur, J. C., N. J. Haughey, S. Gartner, K. Conant, C. Pardo, A. Nath and N. Sacktor: Human immunodefiniency virus-associated dementia: An evolving disease. *Journal of NeuroVirology*, 9, 205-221 (2003)
- 43. Pulliam, L., B. G. Herndier, N. M. Tang and M. S. McGrath: Human immunodeficiency virus-infected macrophages produce soluble factors that cause histological and neurochemical alterations in cultured human brains. *J Clin Invest*, 87, 503-512 (1991)
- 44. Anderson, E., W. Zink, H. Xiong and H. E. Gendelman: HIV-1-associated dementia: a metabolic encephalopathy perpetrated by virus-infected and immune-competent mononuclear phagocytes. *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome*, 31, S43-S54 (2002)
- 45. Kaul, M., G. A. Garden and S. A. Lipton: Pathways to neuronal injury and apoptosis in HIV-associated dementia. *Nature*, 410, 988-994 (2001)

- 46. Lawrence, D. M. and E. O. Major: HIV-1 and the brain: connections between HIV-1-associated dementia, neuropathology and neuroimmunology. *Microbes Infect*, 4, 301-8 (2002)
- 47. Albright, A. V., S. S. Soldan and F. Gonzalez-Scarano: Pathogenesis of human immunodeficiency virus-induced neurological disease. *Journal of NeuroVirology*, 9, 222-227 (2003)
- 48. Glass, J. D., H. Fedor, S. L. Wesselingh and J. C. McArthur: Immunocytochemical quantition of HIV in the brain: correlations with dementia. *Annals of Neurology*, 38, 755-762 (1995)
- 49. Gray, F., L. Belec, K. Keohane, P. De Truchis, B. Clair, M. Durigon, A. Sobel and R. Gherardi: Zidovudine therapy and HIV encephalitis: a 10 year neuropathological survey. *AIDS*, 8, 489-493 (1994)
- 50. Maschke, M., O. Kastrup, S. Esser, B. Ross, U. Hengge and A. Hufnagel: Incidence and prevalence of neurological disorders associated with HIV since the introduction of highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART). *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry*, 69, 376-380 (2000)
- 51. Sacktor, N., M. P. McDermott, K. Marder, G. Schifitto, O. A. Selnes, J. C. McArthur, T. Stern, S. Albert, D. Palumbo, K. Kieburtz, J. A. De Marcaida, B. Cohen and L. G. Epstein: HIV-associated cognitive impairment before and after the advent of combination therapy. *Journal of NeuroVirology*, 8, 136-142 (2002)
- 52. Nath, A. and N. Sacktor: Influence of highly active antiretroviral therapy on persistence of HIV in the central nervous system. *Curr Opin Neurol*, 19, 358-61 (2006)
- 53. Ellis, R., D. Langford and E. Masliah: HIV and antiretroviral therapy in the brain: neuronal injury and repair. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, 8, 33-44 (2007)
- 54. Brew, B. J.: Evidence for a change in AIDS dementia complex in the era of highly active antiretroviral therapy and the possibility of new forms of AIDS dementia complex. *AIDS*, 18, S75-S78 (2004)
- 55. Kandanearatchi, A., B. Williams and I. P. Everall: Assessing the efficacy of highly active antiretroviral therapy in the brain. *Brain Pathology*, 13, 104-110 (2003)
- 56. Brew, B. J., L. Pemberton, K. Blennow, A. Wallin and L. Hagberg: CSF amyloid beta42 and tau levels correlate with AIDS dementia complex. *Neurology*, 65, 1490-2 (2005)
- 57. Masliah, E., R. M. DeTeresa, M. Mallory and L. Hansen: Changes in pathological findings at autopsy in AIDS cases for the last 15 years. *AIDS*, 14, 69-74 (2000)
- 58. Langford, T. D., S. L. Letendre, G. J. Larrea and E. Masliah: Changing patterns in the neuropathogenesis of HIV during the HAART era. *Brain Pathology*, 13, 195-210 (2003)
- 59. Neuenburg, J. K., H. R. Brodt, B. G. Herndier, M. Bickel, P. Bacchetti, R. W. Price, R. M. Grant and W. Schlote: HIV-related neuropathology, 1985 to 1999: rising prevalence of HIV encephalopathy in the era of highly active antiretroviral therapy. *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome*, 31, 171-7 (2002)
- 60. Gray, F., F. Chretien, A. V. Vallat-Decouvelaere and F. Scaravilli: The changing pattern of HIV neuropathology in the HAART era. *Journal of Neuropathology and Experimental Neurology*, 62, 429-440 (2003)

- 61. Langford, D., J. Marquie-Beck, S. de Almeida, D. Lazzaretto, S. Letendre, I. Grant, J. A. McCutchan, E. Masliah and R. J. Ellis: Relationship of antiretroviral treatment to postmortem brain tissue viral load in human immunodeficiency virus-infected patients. *J Neurovirol*, 12, 100-7 (2006)
- 62. Miller, R. F., P. G. Isaacson, M. Hall-Craggs, S. Lucas, F. Gray, F. Scaravilli and S. F. An: Cerebral CD8+lymphocytosis in HIV-1 infected patients with immune restoration induced by HAART. *Acta Neuropathol (Berl)*, 108, 17-23 (2004)
- 63. Riedel, D. J., C. A. Pardo, J. McArthur and A. Nath: Therapy Insight: CNS manifestations of HIV-associated immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome. *Nat Clin Pract Neurol.* 2, 557-65 (2006)
- 64. Anthony, I. C., S. N. Ramage, F. W. Carnie, P. Simmonds and J. Bell: Influence of HAART of HIV related CNS disease and neuroinflammation. *Journal of Neuropathology and Experimental Neurology*, 64, 529-536 (2005)
- 65. Anthony, I. C., S. N. Ramage, F. W. Carnie and J. E. Bell: Accelerated tau deposition in the brains of individuals infected with HIV-1 before and after the advent of HAART. *Acta Neuropathologica (Berl)*, EPub ahead of print, (2006)
- 66. Green, D. A., E. Masliah, H. V. Vinters, P. Beizai, D. J. Moore and C. L. Achim: Brain deposition of beta-amyloid is a common pathologic feature in HIV positive patients. *Aids*, 19, 407-11 (2005)
- 67. Gelman, B. B. and K. Schuenke: Brain aging in acquired immunodeficiency syndrome: increased ubiquitin-protein conjugate is correlated with decreased synaptic protein but not amyloid plaque accumulation. *Journal of NeuroVirology*, 10, 98-108 (2004)
- 68. Bell, J. E., I. C. Anthony and P. Simmonds: Impact of HIV on regional and cellular organisation of the brain. *Curr HIV Res*, 4, 249-57 (2006)
- 69. Rogers, T. J. and P. K. Peterson: Opioid G protein-coupled receptors: signals at the crossroads of inflammation. *Trends Immunol*, 24, 116-21 (2003)
- 70. Drummer, O. H. and M. Odell: The Forensic Pharmacology of Drugs of Abuse. Arnold, London (2003)
- 71. Baler, R. D. and N. D. Volkow: Drug addiction: the neurobiology of disrupted self-control. *Trends Mol Med*, 12, 559-66 (2006)
- 72. Buttner, A., G. Mall, R. Penning and S. Weis: The neuropathology of heroin abuse. *Forensic Science International*, 113, 435-442 (2000)
- 73. O'Brien, C. P.: Stroke in young women who use cocaine or amphetamines. *Epidemiology*, 9, 596-600 (1998) 74. Fergusson, D. M., L. J. Horwood and E. M. Ridder: Tests of causal linkages between cannabis use and psychotic symptoms. *Addiction*, 100, 354-66 (2005)
- 75. Friedman, H., S. Pross and T. W. Klein: Addictive drugs and their relationship with infectious diseases. *FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol*, 47, 330-42 (2006)
- 76. Weber, R. J. and A. Pert: The periaqueductal gray matter mediates opiate-induced immunosuppression. *Science*, 245, 188-90 (1989)
- 77. Bell, J. and F. Gray: Brain Pathology in HIV-1 Infected Drug Abusers. in The Neurology of AIDS. 2nd Edition

- eds. Gendelman H, Everall I, Grant I, Lipton S and Swindells S. Oxford Press, Oxford (2005)
- 78. Buttner, A. and S. Weis: Neuropathological alterations in drug abusers. *Forensic Science, Medicine and Pathology*, 2, 115-126 (2006)
- 79. Buttner, A., C. Kroehling, G. Mall, R. Penning and S. Weis: Alterations of the vascular basal lamina in the cerebral cortex in drug abuse: a combined morphometric and immunohistochemical investigation. *Drug Alcohol Depend*, 79, 63-70 (2005)
- 80. Gray, F., M. C. Leses, C. Keohane, F. Paraire, B. Marc, M. Durigon and R. Gherardi: Early brain changes in HIV-infection: neuropathological study of seropositive non-AIDS cases. *Journal of Neuropathology and Experimental Neurology*, 51, 177-185 (1992)
- 81. Ramage, S. N., I. C. Anthony, F. W. Carnie, A. Busuttil, R. Robertson and J. Bell: Hyperphosphorylated tau and amyloid precursor protein deposition is increased in the brains of young drug abusers. *Neuropathology and Applied Neurobiology*, 31, 439-448 (2005)
- 82. Buttner, A., K. Rohrmoser, G. Mall, R. Penning and S. Weis: Widespread axonal damage in the brain of drug abusers as evidenced by accumulation of beta-amyloid precursor protein (beta-APP): an immunohistochemical investigation. *Addiction*, 101, 1339-46 (2006)
- 83. Bell, J. E., J. C. Arango, J. R. Robertson, R. P. Brettle, C. L. S. Leen and P. Simmonds: HIV and drug misuse in the Edinburgh cohort. *JAIDS*, 31, S35-S42 (2002)
- 84. Gosztonyi, G., V. Schmidt, R. Nickel, M. A. Rothschild, S. Camacho, G. Siegel, E. Zill, G. Pauli and V. Schneider: Neuropathologic analysis of postmortal brain samples of HIV-seropositive and seronegative IV drug addicts. *Forensic Science International*, 62, 101-105 (1993) 85. Koutsilieri, E., S. Sopper, C. Scheller, V. ter Meulen and P. Riederer: Involvement of dopamine in the progression of AIDS Dementia Complex. *Journal of Neural Transmission*, 109, 399-410 (2002)
- 86. Rogers, R. D. and T. W. Robbins: Investigating the neurocognitive deficits associated with chronic drug misuse. *Curr Opin Neurobiol*, 11, 250-7 (2001)
- 87. Ersche, K. D., L. Clark, M. London, T. W. Robbins and B. J. Sahakian: Profile of executive and memory function associated with amphetamine and opiate dependence. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 31, 1036-1047 (2005)
- 88. Bartzokis, G., M. Beckson, P. H. Lu, N. Edwards, R. Rapoport, E. Wiseman and P. Bridge: Age-related brain volume reductions in amphetamine and cocaine addicts and normal controls: implications for addiction research. *Psychiatry Res*, 98, 93-102 (2000)
- 89. Butterworth, R. F.: Hepatic encephalopathy. *Alcohol Res Health*, 27, 240-6 (2003)
- 90. Khalsa, J. H., T. Kresina, K. Sherman and F. Vocci: Medical management of HIV-hepatitis C virus coinfection in injection drug users. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 41 Suppl 1, S1-6 (2005)
- 91. Graham, C. S. and M. J. Koziel: Why should hepatitis C affect immune reconstitution in HIV-1 infected patients? *The Lancet*, 356, 1865-1866 (2000)
- 92. Thomas, D. L.: Hepatitis C and human immunodeficiency virus infection. *Hepatology*, 36, S201-9 (2002)

- 93. Laskus, T., M. Radkowski, A. Piasek, M. Nowicki, A. Horban, J. Cianciara and J. Rakela: Hepatitis C virus in lymphoid cells of patients coinfected with human immunodeficiency virus type 1: evidence of active replication in monocytes/macrophages and lymphocytes. *J Infect Dis*, 181, 442-8 (2000)
- 94. Sheng, W. S., S. Hu, G. Gekker, S. Zhu, P. K. Peterson and C. C. Chao: Immunomodulatory role of opioids in the central nervous system. *Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz)*, 45, 359-366 (1997)
- 95. Steele, A. D., E. E. Henderson and T. J. Rogers: Muopioid modulation of HIV-1 coreceptor expression and HIV-1 replication. *Virology*, 309, 99-107 (2003)
- 96. Kreek, M. J.: Cocaine, dopamine and the endogenous opioid system. *J Addict Dis*, 15, 73-96 (1996)
- 97. McCarthy, L., M. Wetzel, J. K. Sliker, T. K. Eisenstein and T. J. Rogers: Opioids, opioid receptors, and the immune response. *Drug Alcohol Depend*, 62, 111-23 (2001)
- 98. Nair, M. P., S. Mahajan, R. Hewitt, Z. R. Whitney and S. A. Schwartz: Association of drug abuse with inhibition of HIV-1 immune responses: studies with long-term of HIV-1 non-progressors. *J Neuroimmunol*, 147, 21-5 (2004) 99. Novick, D. M., M. Ochshorn, V. Ghali, T. S. Croxson, W. D. Mercer, N. Chiorazzi and M. J. Kreek: Natural killer cell activity and lymphocyte subsets in parenteral heroin abusers and long-term methadone maintenance patients. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 250, 606-610 (1989)
- 100. Fiala, M., X. H. Gan, L. Zhang, S. D. House, T. Newton, M. C. Graves, P. Shapshak, M. Stins, K. S. Kim, M. H. Witte and S. L. Chang: Cocaine enhances monocyte migration across the blood-brain barrier. Cocaine's connection to AIDS dementia and vasculitis? *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology*, 437, 199-205 (1998)
- 101. Rahim, R. T., M. W. Adler, J. J. Meissler, Jr., A. Cowan, T. J. Rogers, E. B. Geller and T. K. Eisenstein: Abrupt or precipitated withdrawal from morphine induces immunosuppression. *J Neuroimmunol*, 127, 88-95 (2002)
- 102. Kral, A. H., R. N. Bluthenthal, J. Lorvick, L. Gee, P. Bacchetti and B. R. Edlin: Sexual transmission of HIV-1 among injection drug users in San Francisco, USA: risk-factor analysis. *The Lancet*, 357, 1397-1401 (2001)
- 103. Bouhnik, A.-D., M. P. Carrieri, D. Rey, B. Spire, J.-A. Gastaut, H. Gallais and Y. Obadia: Drug injection cessation among HIV-infected injecting drug users. *Addictive Behaviors*, 29, 1189-1197 (2004)
- 104. Kapadia, F., D. Vlahov, R. M. Donahoe and G. Friedland: The role of substance abuse in HIV disease progression: reconciling differences from laboratory and epidemiologic investigations. *Clin Infect Dis*, 41, 1027-34 (2005)
- 105. Goodkin, K., P. Shapshak, L. R. Metsch, C. B. McCoy, K. A. Crandall, M. Kumar, R. K. Fujimura, V. McCoy, B. T. Zhang, S. Reyblat, K. Q. Xin and A. M. Kumar: Cocaine abuse and HIV-1 infection: epidemiology and neuropathogenesis. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, 83, 88-101 (1998)
- 106. Tyor, W. and L. D. Middaugh: Do alcohol and cocaine abuse alter the course of the HIV-associated dementia complex? *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 65, 475-481 (1999)

- 107. Chiesi, A., A. C. Seeber, L. G. Dally, M. Floridia, G. Rezza and S. Vella: AIDS dementia complex in the Italian National AIDS Registry: temporal trends (1987-93) and differential incidence according to mode of transmission of HIV-1 infection. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 144, 107-113 (1996)
- 108. Nath, A., W. Maragos, M. J. Avison, F. A. Schmitt and J. R. Berger: Acceleration of HIV dementia with methamphetamine and cocaine. *Journal of NeuroVirology*, 7, 66-71 (2001)
- 109. Bell, J. E., Y. K. Donaldson, S. Lowrie, C. A. McKenzie, R. A. Elton, A. Chiswick, R. P. Brettle, J. W. Ironside and P. Simmonds: Influence of risk group and zidovudine therapy on the development of HIV encephalitis and cognitive impairment in AIDS patients. *AIDS*, 10, 493-499 (1996)
- 110. Martinez, A. J., M. Sell, T. Mitrovics, G. Stoltenburg-Didinger, J. R. Inglesias-Rozas, M. A. Giraldo-Velasquez, G. Gosztonyi, V. Schneider and J. Navarro-Cervos: The neuropathology and epidemiology of AIDS. A Berlin experience. A review of 200 cases. *Pathological Research Practice*, 191, 427-443 (1995)
- 111. Davies, J., I. P. Everall, S. Weich, L. R. Sharer, E. S. Cho, J. E. Bell, C. Majteny, F. Gray, F. Scaravilli and P. L. Lantos: HIV-associated brain pathology: a comparative international study. *Neuropathology and Applied Neurobiology*, 24, 118-124 (1998)
- 112. Arango, J. C., P. Simmonds, R. P. Brettle and J. E. Bell: Does drug abuse influence the microglial response in AIDS and HIV encephalitis? *AIDS*, 18 Suppl 1, S69-S74 (2004)
- 113. Kanmogne, G. D., K. Schall, J. Leibhart, B. Knipe, H. E. Gendelman and Y. Persidsky: HIV-1 gp120 compromises blood-brain barrier integrity and enhances monocyte migration across blood-brain barrier: implication for viral neuropathogenesis. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab*, 27, 123-34 (2007)
- 114. Zhang, L., D. Looney, D. Taub, S. L. Chang, D. Way, M. H. Witte, M. C. Graves and M. Fiala: Cocaine opens the blood-brain barrier to HIV-1 invasion. *Journal of NeuroVirology*, 4, 619-626 (1998)
- 115. Hu, S., W. S. Sheng, J. R. Lokensgard and P. K. Peterson: Morphine potentiates HIV-1 gp120-induced neuronal apoptosis. *J Infect Dis*, 191, 886-9 (2005)
- 116. Hauser, K. F., N. El-Hage, S. Buch, J. R. Berger, W. R. Tyor, A. Nath, A. J. Bruce-Keller and P. E. Knapp: Molecular targets of opiate drug abuse in neuroAIDS. *Neurotox Res.* 8, 63-80 (2005)
- 117. Langford, D., A. Grigorian, R. Hurford, A. Adame, L. Crews and E. Masliah: The role of mitochondrial alterations in the combined toxic effects of human immunodeficiency virus Tat protein and methamphetamine on calbindin positive-neurons. *J Neurovirol*, 10, 327-37 (2004)
- 118. Chao, C. C., G. Gekker, S. Hu, W. S. Sheng, K. B. Shark, D. F. Bu, S. Archer, J. M. Bidlack and P. K. Peterson: kappa opioid receptors in human microglia downregulate human immunodeficiency virus 1 expression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 93, 8051-6 (1996)
- 119. Langford, D. and E. Masliah: Crosstalk between components of the blood brain barrier and cells of the CNS

- in microglial activation in AIDS. *Brain Pathol*, 11, 306-12 (2001)
- 120. Ghorpade, A., Y. Persidsky, S. Swindells, K. Borgmann, R. Persidsky, S. Holter, R. Cotter and H. E. Gendelman: Neuroinflammatory responses from microglia recovered from HIV-1-infected and seronegative subjects. *J Neuroimmunol*, 163, 145-56 (2005)
- 121. Rock, R. B., G. Gekker, S. Hu, W. S. Sheng, M. Cheeran, J. R. Lokensgard and P. K. Peterson: Role of microglia in central nervous system infections. *Clin Microbiol Rev*, 17, 942-64, table of contents (2004)
- 122. Hauser, K. F., N. El-Hage, A. Stiene-Martin, W. F. Maragos, A. Nath, Y. Persidsky, D. J. Volsky and P. E. Knapp: HIV-1 neuropathogenesis: glial mechanisms revealed through substance abuse. *J Neurochem*, 100, 567-86 (2007)
- 123. Buttner, A. and S. Weis: Central Nervous System Alternations in Drug Abuse. Humana Press Inc, Totowa, NJ (2004)
- 124. Dougherty, R. H., R. L. Skolasky and J. C. McArthur: Progression of HIV-associated dementia treated with HAART. *AIDS*, 12, 69-74 (2002)
- 125. Rogers, T. J., F. Bednar, D. E. Kaminsky, P. C. Davey, J. J. Meissler, Jr. and T. K. Eisenstein: Laboratory model systems of drug abuse and their relevance to HIV infection and dementia. In: The Neurology of AIDS. Eds: H. E. Gendelman, I. P. Everall, I. Grant, A. M. LiptonandS. Swindells. Oxford Press, Oxford (2005)
- 126. Turchan-Cholewo, J., Y. Liu, S. Gartner, R. Reid, C. Jie, X. Peng, K. C. Chen, A. Chauhan, N. Haughey, R. Cutler, M. P. Mattson, C. Pardo, K. Conant, N. Sacktor, J. C. McArthur, K. F. Hauser, C. Gairola and A. Nath: Increased vulnerability of ApoE4 neurons to HIV proteins and opiates: protection by diosgenin and L-deprenyl. *Neurobiol Dis*, 23, 109-19 (2006)
- 127. Schwartz, L. and E. O. Major: Neural progenitors and HIV-1-associated central nervous system disease in adults and children. *Curr HIV Res*, 4, 319-27 (2006)
- 128. Hu, S., M. C. Cheeran, W. S. Sheng, H. T. Ni, J. R. Lokensgard and P. K. Peterson: Cocaine alters proliferation, migration, and differentiation of human fetal brain-derived neural precursor cells. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 318, 1280-6 (2006)
- 129. Gorantla, S., H. Sneller, L. Walters, J. G. Sharp, S. J. Pirruccello, J. T. West, C. Wood, S. Dewhurst, H. E. Gendelman and L. Poluektova: Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 pathobiology studied in humanized BALB/c-Rag2-/-gammac-/- mice. *J Virol*, 81, 2700-12 (2007)
- 130. Persidsky, Y. and H. E. Gendelman: Development of laboratory and animal model systems for HIV-1 encephalitis and its associated dementia. *J Leukoc Biol*, 62, 100-6 (1997)
- 131. Limoges, J., Y. Persidsky, L. Poluektova, J. Rasmussen, W. Ratanasuwan, M. Zelivyanskaya, D. R. McClernon, E. R. Lanier and H. E. Gendelman: Evaluation of antiretroviral drug efficacy for HIV-1 encephalitis in SCID mice. *Neurology*, 54, 379-89 (2000)
- 132. Dou, H., J. Morehead, J. Bradley, S. Gorantla, B. Ellison, J. Kingsley, L. M. Smith, W. Chao, G. Bentsman, D. J. Volsky and H. E. Gendelman: Neuropathologic and neuroinflammatory activities of HIV-1-infected human astrocytes in murine brain. *Glia*, 54, 81-93 (2006)

- 133. Poluektova, L., V. Meyer, L. Walters, X. Paez and H. E. Gendelman: Macrophage-induced inflammation affects hippocampal plasticity and neuronal development in a murine model of HIV-1 encephalitis. *Glia*, 52, 344-53 (2005)
- 134. Liu, P., L. C. Hudson, M. B. Tompkins, T. W. Vahlenkamp, B. Colby, C. Rundle and R. B. Meeker: Cerebrospinal fluid is an efficient route for establishing brain infection with feline immunodeficiency virus and transfering infectious virus to the periphery. *J Neurovirol*, 12, 294-306 (2006)
- 135. Liu, P., L. C. Hudson, M. B. Tompkins, T. W. Vahlenkamp and R. B. Meeker: Compartmentalization and evolution of feline immunodeficiency virus between the central nervous system and periphery following intracerebroventricular or systemic inoculation. *J Neurovirol*, 12, 307-21 (2006)
- 136. Ryan, G., T. Grimes, B. Brankin, M. J. Mabruk, M. J. Hosie, O. Jarrett and J. J. Callanan: Neuropathology associated with feline immunodeficiency virus infection highlights prominent lymphocyte trafficking through both the blood-brain and blood-choroid plexus barriers. *J Neurovirol*, 11, 337-45 (2005)
- 137. Podell, M., P. A. March, W. R. Buck and L. E. Mathes: The feline model of neuroAIDS: understanding the progression towards AIDS dementia. *J Psychopharmacol*, 14, 205-13 (2000)
- 138. Phillips, T. R., J. N. Billaud and S. J. Henriksen: Methamphetamine and HIV-1: potential interactions and the use of the FIV/cat model. *J Psychopharmacol*, 14, 244-50 (2000)
- 139. Zink, M. C., G. D. Coleman, J. L. Mankowski, R. J. Adams, P. M. Tarwater, K. Fox and J. E. Clements: Increased macrophage chemoattractant protein-1 in cerebrospinal fluid precedes and predicts simian immunodeficiency virus encephalitis. *J Infect Dis*, 184, 1015-21 (2001)
- 140. Williams, K. C., S. Corey, S. V. Westmoreland, D. Pauley, H. Knight, C. de Bakker, X. Alvarez and A. A. Lackner: Perivascular macrophages are the primary cell type productively infected by simian immunodeficiency virus in the brains of macaques: implications for the neuropathogenesis of AIDS. *J Experimental Medicine*, 193, 905-916 (2001)
- 141. Mankowski, J. L., S. E. Queen, P. M. Tarwater, K. J. Fox and V. H. Perry: Accumulation of beta-amyloid precursor protein in axons correlates with CNS expression of SIV gp41. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*, 61, 85-90 (2002)
- 142. Guillemin, G., J. Croitoru, R. L. Le Grand, M. Franck-Duchenne, D. Dormont and F. D. Boussin: Simian immunodeficiency virus mac251 infection of astrocytes. *Journal of NeuroVirology*, 6, 173-186 (2000)
- 143. Czub, S., E. Koutsilieri, S. Sopper, M. Czub, C. Stahl-Hennig, J. G. Muller, V. Pederson, W. Gsell, J. L. Heeney, M. Gerlach, G. Gosztonyi, P. Riederer and V. Meulen: Enhancement of central nervous system pathology in early simian immunodeficiency virus infection by dopaminergic drugs. *Acta Neuropathol (Berl)*, 101, 85 (2001)
- 144. Czub, S., M. Czub, E. Koutsilieri, S. Sopper, F. Villinger, J. G. Muller, C. Stahl-Hennig, P. Riederer, V. Ter Meulen and G. Gosztonyi: Modulation of simian

- immunodeficiency virus neuropathology by dopaminergic drugs. Acta Neuropathol (Berl), 107, 216-26 (2004)
- 145. Madden, L. J., M. A. Zandonatti, C. T. Flynn, M. A. Taffe, M. C. Marcondes, J. E. Schmitz, K. A. Reimann, S. J. Henriksen and H. S. Fox: CD68+ cell depletion amplifies the acute retroviral syndrome. *Journal of NeuroVirology*, 10, 58 (2004)
- 146. Donahoe, R. M.: Multiple ways that drug abuse might influence AIDS progression: clues from a monkey model. *J Neuroimmunol*, 147, 28-32 (2004)
- 147. Gekker, G., S. Hu, M. P. Wentland, J. M. Bidlack, J. R. Lokensgard and P. K. Peterson: Kappa-opioid receptor ligands inhibit cocaine-induced HIV-1 expression in microglial cells. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 309, 600-6 (2004) 148. Blankson, J. N., D. Persaud and R. F. Siliciano: The challenge of viral reservoirs in HIV-1 infection. *Annu Rev Med*, 53, 557-593 (2002)
- 149. McGeer, P. L. and E. G. McGeer: Local neuroinflammation and the progression of Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurovirol*, 8, 529-38 (2002)
- 150. McGeer, P. and E. G. McGreer: Inflammation of the brain in Alzheimer's disease: implications for therapy. *J Leukocyte Biol*, 65, 409 (1999)
- 151. Tanuma, N., H. Sakuma, A. Sasaki and Y. Matsumoto: Chemokine expression by astrocytes plays a role in microglia/macrophage activation and subsequent neurodegeneration in secondary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Acta Neuropathol (Berl)*, 112, 195-204 (2006) 152. Arai, T., J. Fukae, T. Hatano, S. Kubo, T. Ohtsubo, Y. Nakabeppu, H. Mori, Y. Mizuno and N. Hattori: Upregulation of hMUTYH, a DNA repair enzyme, in the mitochondria of substantia nigra in Parkinson's disease. *Acta Neuropathol (Berl)*, 112, 139-45 (2006)

Key Words: Brain, HIV, AIDS, Drug Abuse, Opiates, HAART, Neurodegeneration, Review

Send correspondence to: Professor Jeanne Bell, Division of Pathology (Neuropathology), Alexander Donald Building, Western General Hospital, Edinburgh, EH4 2XU, Tel: 44131537-1975, Fax: 44131537-1013, E-mail: Jeanne.Bell@ed.ac.uk

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol13.htm